

Risk Factors Comparison 2025-02-26 to 2024-02-29 Form: 10-K

Legend: **New Text** ~~Removed Text~~ Unchanged Text **Moved Text Section**

We provide readers with the following discussion of risks and uncertainties relevant to our business. These are factors that we believe could cause our actual results to differ materially from our historic or anticipated results. We could also be adversely affected by other factors, in addition to those listed here. **These risks are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial could have a material effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and / or liquidity.** Additional information concerning factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in the forward- looking statements is set forth in Part II, Item 7," Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." **Business Strategy The Risks** Relating to Our Operations: Underwriting Risks, Claims Risks, Investments Risks, Management Risks, Cyber Risks and Legal Risks Our success depends primarily **of our strategy may be adversely impacted by various internal and external factors. We have set a strategy to grow our business. We expect to execute** on our ability to underwrite strategy, but our success could be impacted by several different risks effectively and adequately price the risks we..... a number of risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to ~~regulatory changes, economic conditions, technological advancements,~~ cybersecurity threats, operational risks, intense market competition, and talent risks. We continually monitor these risks and mitigate their potential likelihood and impact. We also adjust our strategy as needed as results are realized or projections indicate any potential weaknesses in the adequacy or execution of our strategic plan. Our efforts to successfully mitigate risks to our strategy are not guaranteed, which could materially impact our financial condition and the results of our operations. Our core insurance business is dependent on strong and beneficial relationships with a large network of independent insurance agents and not maintaining these relationships could result in loss of sufficient business opportunities within our expertise and stated risk appetite. Our direct insurance products are marketed exclusively through independent insurance agencies, all of which represent more than one company. We face competition within each agency to retain qualified independent agents. Our competitors include companies that market their products via independent agents, exclusive agents and companies that sell insurance directly to their customers. Our distribution model is subject to the risks of possible loss of independent agencies for various reasons and the discretion agencies have to reduce their business with us. Other potential consequences of not maintaining strong and beneficial relationships include the loss of sufficient business opportunities within our specific risk appetite, impacting the quality of our underwriting and loss ratio. If the quality of the independent agencies with which we do business were to decline, policyholders might consider purchasing their insurance through different agencies or channels. Our geographic concentration ties our performance to the business, economic and regulatory conditions of certain states. Our revenues and profitability are subject to the prevailing regulatory, legal, economic, political, competitive, weather, and other conditions in the principal states in which we do business. With respect to regulatory conditions, the NAIC and state legislators continually reexamine existing laws and regulations, specifically focusing on modifications to holding company regulations, interpretations of existing laws and the development of new laws and regulations. In a time of financial uncertainty or a prolonged economic downturn, regulators may choose to adopt more restrictive insurance laws and regulations. Changes in regulatory or any other of these conditions could make it less attractive for us to do business in such states. In addition, our exposure to severe losses from localized natural perils, such as tornadoes, wildfires or hailstorms, is increased in those areas where we have written a significant amount of property insurance policies. We will be at a competitive disadvantage if, over time, our competitors are more effective in pricing their products, development of new product offering, implementation of technology and data analytics. We compete with many major U. S. and non- U. S. insurers and smaller regional companies, as well as mutual companies, specialty insurance companies, underwriting agencies, and diversified financial services companies, including banks, mutual funds, broker- dealers and asset- managers. Our competitors may attempt to increase their market share by lowering rates. Losing business to competitors offering similar products at lower prices or who have a competitive advantage may adversely affect the results of our operations. We use various actuarial techniques and data analytics to understand our risk exposures such as frequency and severity of different types of insurance claims. The data we rely on for these analytics includes experience data from our own business (+e. g., policies written, characteristics, coverages, and details of associated losses) and the availability of sufficient reliable data attained from third parties, including industry results. We use outputs of predictive models and other analytics to assist in decision making related to underwriting, pricing, claims management (including reserving), and catastrophe risk exposure management. Emerging technology, including artificial intelligence, offers opportunities to underwrite and price business more efficiently and accurately, thus lowering costs. If we are not able to use technology and data analytics as effectively as our competitors, our competitiveness and ability to write properly analyze available data; (2) market and competitive conditions; (3) changes in medical care expenses and restoration costs; (4) retain business within our risk appetite will be impacted. This may reduce the profitability of the business we do write our~ or selection retain and negatively affect our application of appropriate pricing techniques; and (5) changes in the regulatory market, applicable legal liability-- ability standards to meet our business objectives. Our strategy' s success could be affected by our timely ability to recognize and adapt to our position in the insurance cycle civil litigation system generally. The risk presented by market conditions presents a unique set of challenges in the property and casualty insurance industry. The property and casualty insurance marketplace is cyclical in nature and has

historically been characterized by soft markets (**i. e.**, periods of relatively high levels of price competition, less restrictive underwriting standards and generally low premium rates) followed by hard markets (**i. e.**, periods of capital shortages resulting in a lack of insurance availability, relatively low levels of price competition, more selective underwriting of risks and relatively high premium rates). During soft markets, we may lose business to competitors offering competitive insurance at lower prices. We may reduce our premiums or limit premium increases leading to a reduction in our profit margins and revenues effectively and adequately price the risks we insure. The results of our operations and our financial condition depend on our ability to underwrite and set premium rates accurately for a wide variety of risks based on available information. Adequate rates are necessary to generate premiums sufficient to pay losses, loss settlement expenses and underwriting expenses and to earn a profit. To price our products accurately, we must collect and properly analyze a substantial amount of data, develop, and apply appropriate pricing techniques, closely monitor changes in trends and project both severity and frequency of losses with reasonable accuracy. We could underprice risks which would adversely affect our profit margins. Conversely, we could overprice risks, leading to reduced sales volume and competitiveness. Our ability to undertake these efforts successfully is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, . The demand for property and casualty insurance can also vary significantly, rising as the overall level of economic activity increases and falling as that activity decreases. Fluctuations in demand and competition could produce underwriting results that would have a negative impact on the results of our operations and financial condition. **Claims** We continue to compete with many ~~may~~ major U. S. and ~~non-~~ be unable to predict the rising cost of insurance claims resulting from changing societal expectations that lead to increasing litigation, broader definitions of liability, broader contract interpretations, more plaintiff ~~-~~ friendly legal decisions and larger compensatory jury awards . ~~S-~~ We refer to these phenomena collectively as " social inflation" and they present a significant challenge in accurately pricing risk and managing the liabilities that arise on insurance policies . ~~insurers~~ As a commercial casualty insurance company, we have always been sensitive to the effects of emerging claims and coverage issues, including class action lawsuits. But more recent trends such as litigation financing have led to ~~and-~~ an ~~smaller~~ regional companies, ~~unprecedented~~ number of large liability losses for us as well as ~~our~~ mutual companies, specialty insurance companies, underwriting agencies, and diversified financial services companies, including banks, mutual funds, broker- dealers and asset- managers. Our competitors may always attempt to increase their market share by lowering rates. ~~These issues~~ Losing business to competitors offering similar products at lower prices or who have a competitive advantage may adversely affect the results of our business by either extending coverage beyond our underwriting intent ~~our-~~ or operations by increasing the number and / or size of claims, resulting in further increases in our reserves . ~~We-~~ The effects of these and other unforeseen emerging claims and coverage issues are subject difficult to predict. Further examples of these issues include: (1) ~~judicial~~ **Judicial** expansion of policy coverage and the impact of new theories of liability ; (2) ~~an~~ **An** increase in plaintiffs targeting property and casualty insurers , ~~including us,~~ in purported class action litigation regarding claims handling and other practices ; (3) ~~medical~~ **Medical** developments that link health issues to ~~particular-~~ **specific** causes, resulting in liability or workers' compensation (for example, cumulative trauma) ; (4) ~~claims~~ **Claims** relating to unanticipated consequences of current or new technologies ; (5) ~~an~~ **An** increase in the variety, number and size of claims relating to liability losses, which often present complex coverage and damage valuation questions ; (6) ~~claims~~ **Claims** relating to potentially changing climate conditions, including higher frequency and severity of weather- related events ; and (7) ~~adverse~~ **Adverse** changes in loss cost trends, including inflationary pressure in medical cost and automobile repair costs. Many of the policies we issue include exclusions and other conditions that define , and limit coverage, which exclusions and ~~are designed to manage our exposure~~ to certain **types of** risks related to ~~and expanding theories of legal liability.~~ In addition, many of our investment portfolio policies limit the period during which a policyholder may bring a claim under the policy, which period in many cases is shorter than the statutory period under which these claims can be brought by our policyholders. While these exclusions and limitations help us assess and control our loss exposure, it is possible that a court or regulatory authority could nullify ~~negatively affect our-~~ or void profitability. Investment income is an ~~exclusion~~ important component of our ~~-~~ or limitation, or legislation could be enacted which modifies or bars net income and overall profitability. We invest premiums received from policyholders and other ~~-~~ the use of these exclusions available cash to generate investment income and capital appreciation, while also maintaining sufficient liquidity to pay ~~limitations.~~ This could result in higher than anticipated losses by extending ~~covered-~~ coverage claims beyond the intent of our underwriting. In some instances , operating expenses, and dividends ~~these changes may not become apparent until~~ **sometime after we have issued the insurance policies that are affected by these changes** . As discussed in detail below, general economic conditions, changes in financial markets, global events, and many other factors beyond our control can adversely affect the value of our investments and the realization of investment income. We manage our investment portfolio internally under required statutory guidelines and investment guidelines approved by our Board of Directors and the boards of directors of our subsidiaries. Although these guidelines stress diversification and capital preservation, our investments are subject to a variety of risks discussed as follows. Credit Risk — The value of our investment in marketable securities is subject to credit losses as a result , of deterioration in the creditworthiness ~~full extent~~ of the **liability under our insurance contracts may not be known for many years after a policy is** ~~issued-~~ **issued** . ~~We actively~~ Such impairments could reduce ~~-~~ **educate** our net investment income ~~employees on the risk of social inflation~~ and how best to defend against social inflation tactics. We endeavor to find ways to keep claims out of litigation and manage downward the length of time that certain claims are open. We also steer our portfolio away from business that is most exposed to these trends, and we target business in our assumed reinsurance operations and other alternative distribution channels that offer shorter tail risks. Our reserves for property and casualty insurance losses and loss settlement expenses are based on estimates and may be inadequate, adversely impacting our financial results. We maintain insurance reserves to cover our estimated ultimate unpaid liability for ~~claim-~~ **claims** and ~~claim-~~ **claims** adjustment expenses, including the estimated cost of the claims adjustment process, for reported and unreported claims and for future policy benefits. Our reserves may prove to be inadequate, which may result in future charges to earnings and

/ or a downgrade of our financial strength rating or the financial strength ratings of our insurance company subsidiaries. Insurance reserves represent our best estimate at a given point in time. They are not an exact calculation of liability but instead are complex estimates, which are a product of actuarial expertise and projection techniques based on assumptions and expectations result in **future charges to earnings and / realized investment losses**. The vast majority of our **or a downgrade investments** (98.4 percent of core fixed income portfolio **our financial strength rating or the financial strength ratings of our insurance company subsidiaries. Insurance reserves represent our best estimate** at December 31, 2023) **a given point in time. They are not** investment-grade securities. Despite efforts to diversify our portfolio and **an** emphasize credit quality, our investments **exact calculation of liability but instead** are subject to losses as **complex estimates, which are** a result **product** of **actuarial expertise** a general downturn in the economy. Interest Rate Risk—A significant portion of our investment portfolio (89.4 percent at December 31, 2023) consists of fixed income securities, primarily U. S. government agency, corporate and **projection techniques based on assumptions and expectations about** municipal bonds (70.0 percent at December 31, 2023). These securities are sensitive to changes in interest rates. An increase in interest rates typically reduces the fair value of fixed income securities, while a decline in interest rates reduces the investment income earned from future **events** investments in fixed income securities. We generally hold our fixed income securities to maturity, **many** so our interest rate exposure does not usually result in realized losses. However, rising interest rates could result in a significant reduction of **which** the book value of our fixed maturity investments. Low interest rates, and low investable yields, could adversely impact our net earnings as reinvested funds produce lower investment income. Interest rates are highly **uncertain** sensitive to many factors beyond our control including general macroeconomic conditions, changes in governmental regulations and monetary policy, and national and international political conditions. **The process** Liquidity Risk—We seek to match the maturities of **estimating claims** our investment portfolio with the estimated payment date of our loss and loss **claims** adjustment expense reserves **involves** to ensure strong liquidity and avoid having to liquidate securities to fund claims. Risk such as inadequate loss and loss adjustment reserves, a **high degree of judgment**, large natural catastrophe, or unfavorable trends in litigation could potentially result in the need to sell investments to fund these **These estimates are based** liabilities. This could result in significant realized losses depending on **historical data** the conditions of the general market, interest rates and **credit profile of individual securities**. Further..... adversely affected if the functioning of those -- **the impact of various factors** markets is disrupted or otherwise affected by local, national or international events, such as: changes (1) **Actuarial and statistical projections of the cost of settlement and administration of claims reflecting facts and circumstances known.** (2) **Historical claims information and loss emergence patterns.** (3) **Assessments of currently available data.** (4) **Estimates of future trends in regulation-claims severity and frequency.** (5) **Judicial theories of liability.** (6) **Economic factors such as inflation.** (7) **Estimates and assumptions regarding social, judicial and legislative trends, and actions such as class action lawsuits and judicial interpretation of coverages or tax-policy exclusions.** (8) **The level of insurance fraud. Many of**; changes in legislation relating to bankruptcy or other proceedings; infrastructure failures; wars or terrorist attacks; public health emergencies and pandemics; the **these** overall health of global economies; a significant change in inflation expectations; a significant devaluation of government or private sector credit and / or currency values; and other factors or events not specifically attributable to changes in interest rates, credit losses, and liquidity needs. We exercise prudence and significant judgment in analyzing and validating fair values, which are primarily provided by third parties, for securities in our investment portfolio, including those that are not **quantifiable** regularly traded in active markets. **The** We also exercise prudence and significant judgment in determining whether the impairment of particular investments is temporary or other-than-temporary. Due to the inherent uncertainties involved in these judgments, we may incur unrealized losses and subsequently conclude that other-than-temporary write-downs of our investments **estimating reserves** are **greater for** required. Our geographic concentration ties our performance to the business, economic and regulatory conditions of certain **types** states. The following states provided 47.0 percent of **liabilities, particularly the those** direct statutory premiums written for the property and casualty insurance businesses in **which the various considerations affecting the type of claim** 2023: Texas (17.4 percent), California (12.4 percent), Iowa (7.1 percent), Missouri (5.8 percent) and Louisiana (4.3 percent). Our revenues and profitability are subject to **change** the prevailing regulatory, legal, economic, political, competitive, weather, and other conditions in the principal states in which **long periods of time may elapse before a definitive determination of liability is made. Reserve estimates are continually refined in a regular and ongoing process as experience develops and further claims are reported and settled. Actual loss and loss settlement expenses paid might exceed our reserves. If our loss reserves are insufficient, or if** we do business. With respect **believe our loss reserves are insufficient** to regulatory conditions **cover our actual loss and loss settlement expenses**, we will have to increase our loss reserves and incur charges to our earnings, which could indicate **that premium levels were insufficient. As such, deviations from one or more of the these assumptions could result in a material adverse impact** NAIC and state legislators continually reexamine existing laws and regulations, specifically focusing on **our Consolidated Financial Statements** modifications to holding company regulations, interpretations of existing laws and / or our the development of new laws and regulations. In a time of financial uncertainty **strength rating, or For** a prolonged economic downturn, regulators may choose to adopt more restrictive insurance laws and regulations. Changes in regulatory or any other of these conditions could make it less attractive for us to do business in such states. In addition **additional information about**; our exposure to severe losses from localized natural perils, such as tornadoes, wildfires or **our reserving process and** hailstorms, is increased in those -- **the factors** areas where we have written a significant amount **consider in estimating reserves, refer to the "Critical Accounting Estimates" section in Part II, Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis** of property insurance policies **Financial Condition and Results of Operations**. " We insure property that is exposed to various natural perils that can give rise to significant claims costs. Our property and casualty insurance operations expose us to claims arising from catastrophic events affecting multiple policyholders. Such catastrophic events consist of various natural disasters, which may increase in severity and frequency due to climate change, including, but not limited to, hurricanes,

tornadoes, hailstorms, wildfires, earthquakes, severe winter weather, volcanic eruptions, and man-made disasters such as terrorist acts (including biological, chemical or radiological events), explosions, infrastructure failures and results from political instability. We have exposure to hurricanes along the Gulf Coast, Eastern and Southeastern coasts of the United States. We have exposure to tornadoes, severe convective storms, windstorms, and hailstorms throughout the United States. We have exposure to earthquakes along the West Coast and the New Madrid Fault area. Our automobile and inland marine business also exposes us to losses arising from floods and other perils. Property damage resulting from catastrophes is perhaps the largest short-term underwriting loss we face in the ordinary course of our business. Catastrophes may reduce our net income, cause substantial volatility in our financial results for any fiscal quarter or year or otherwise adversely affect our financial condition, liquidity or results of operations. Catastrophes may also negatively affect our ability to write new business. We have exposure to catastrophic losses under our commercial insurance policies as well as through our assumed reinsurance and managing general agency contracts. Losses from catastrophic events are a function of our exposure profile and the level of reinsurance purchased to mitigate these losses. For example, the losses experienced from a tornado will vary on whether the location of the tornado was in a highly populated or unpopulated area, the concentration of insureds in that area and the severity of the tornado. Increases in the value and geographic concentration of insured property and the effects of inflation could increase the severity of claims from a catastrophic event. In addition, it as with catastrophe losses generally, it can require requires more time for us to determine our ultimate losses associated with a particular catastrophic event. The inability to access portions of the impacted area, the complexity of the losses, legal and regulatory uncertainty, and the nature of the information available for certain catastrophic events may affect our ability to estimate the claims and claim adjustment expense reserves. Such complex factors include, but are not limited to: determining the cause of the damage, evaluating general liability exposures, estimating additional living expenses, the impact of demand surge, infrastructure disruption, fraud, business interruption costs and reinsurance collectability. A. The timing of a catastrophic occurrence at the end or near the end of a reporting period may also affect the information available to us when estimating claims and claim-claims adjustment expense reserves for the reporting period. As our claims experience for a particular catastrophe develops, we may be required to adjust our reserves to reflect our revised estimates of the total cost of claims. However, because the occurrence and severity of catastrophes are inherently unpredictable and may vary significantly from year to year and region to region, historical results of operations may not be indicative of future results of operations. Following catastrophes there may be are also sometimes legislative, administrative, and judicial decisions that seek to expand insurance coverage for claims beyond the original intent of the policies or seek to prevent the application of deductibles. Our ability to manage catastrophic exposure may be limited by public policy considerations, the political environment, changes in the general economic climate and / or social responsibilities. We use outputs or future policyholders with ratings requirements. The failure of predictive models and our insurance company subsidiaries to maintain their other current ratings could dissuade a lender or reinsurance company from conducting analytics to assist in decision making related to underwriting, pricing, claims management (including reserving), and catastrophe risk exposure management. Emerging technology, including artificial intelligence, offers opportunities to underwrite and price business with more efficiently and accurately, thus lowering costs. If we are not able to us use technology and data analytics as effectively as A ratings downgrade could also cause some of our existing liabilities competitors, our competitiveness and ability to write and retain business within our risk appetite will be subject to acceleration, additional collateral support, changes in terms, impacted. This may reduce the profitability of the business we do write and retain and negatively affect or our ability creation of additional financial obligations. For more information, refer to meet our business objectives the "Financial Strength and Issuer Credit Rating" section in Part I, Item 1 and Note 13 "Debt" contained in Part II, Item 8. We may be unable to secure reinsurance capacity that provides necessary risk protection at a reasonable cost. Our reinsurance strategy seeks to protect the Company from extremely adverse underwriting outcomes as well as unnecessary volatility in underwriting results. We purchase conservative levels of reinsurance as measured by our property catastrophe models, our economic capital model, and benchmarking with our peers. We retain multiple reinsurance intermediaries to plan, create, and facilitate our ceded reinsurance placements. These intermediaries work closely with our risk, corporate underwriting, and finance departments to design reinsurance transactions that align with corporate strategy and risk appetite. Reinsurance transactions are supported by a large and diverse array of reinsurance providers to ensure that the capacity is reliable in each underwriting year. However, in hard reinsurance market conditions, reinsurance capacity can become constrained as reinsurers are pressed with concerns about capital or profitability. In these conditions, we may be unable to secure our desired reinsurance protection at a reasonable cost. Lost reinsurance capacity could expose the Company to larger retained losses per loss occurrence, per risk, or per year in total. To mitigate this risk, we maintain a large panel of reinsurers and prefer to trade with partners that participate in each of our ceded programs. We transact with multiple intermediary companies to ensure full access to the entire reinsurance market. We monitor the credit quality of our reinsurance providers. We have a clear view of the criticality of various components of our reinsurance program. Finally, we maintain active dialogue with intermediaries and underwriters throughout the year. Risks Relating We may be unable to attract, retain or effectively manage the succession of key personnel. Our success Common Stock Changing weather patterns and climate change add to the unpredictability, frequency and severity of catastrophe losses and may adversely affect our the results of our operations, liquidity and financial condition. Long-term weather trends may be changing, a phenomenon that has been associated with extreme weather events linked to rising temperatures, including effects on global weather patterns, sea, land and air temperature, sea levels, rain, snow, and drought. Such changes in climate conditions could cause our underlying modeling data to be less accurate, limiting our ability to evaluate and manage our risk. Climate change also adds to the unpredictability of natural disasters and creates uncertainty as to future trends and exposures. Climate change presents risks in four categories to UFG the Company: a. (1) Physical Risk: The cost of natural perils may change. This is a concern for our property insurance underwriting strategy and, to a lesser extent, our real estate costs. b. (2) Regulatory Risk: Certain regulatory bodies may impose laws that require UFG to report Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions from our own operations and our

strategies to mitigate emissions, resulting in compliance with such regulations requiring increased time and expense. e- (3) Transition Risk: Financial risks arising from a global transition to a lower- carbon economy could impact long- term return on certain invested assets. d- (4) Liability Risk: New areas of law enabling litigation alleging damage from climate change may present legal risk to UFG. We maintain catastrophe exposure modeling and management..... that offer more short tail risks. Unauthorized data access, cyber- attacks and other security breaches could have an adverse impact on our business and reputation. We rely on computer systems to conduct our critical business for our functions, such as customer service, marketing and sales activities, customer relationship management and producing financial statements. Our business and operations rely on secure and efficient processing, storage and transmission of customer and Company data, including personally identifiable information. Our ability to effectively operate our business depends upon our ability, and the ability of certain third- party vendors and business partners, to access our computer systems to perform necessary business functions, such as providing quotes and product pricing, billing and processing premiums, administering claims, and reporting our financial results. We retain confidential information on our computer systems, including customer information and proprietary business information belonging to us and, our policyholders, third party claimants and vendors. Our business and operations depend upon our ability to safeguard this personally identifiable information. Our systems may be vulnerable to unauthorized access and hackers, computer viruses, and other scenarios in which our data may be compromised. Cyber- attacks involving these systems, or those of our third- party vendors, could be carried out remotely and from multiple sources and could interrupt, damage, or otherwise adversely affect the operations of these critical systems. Cyber- attacks could result in the modification or theft of data, the distribution of false information, or the denial of service to users. Threats to data security can emerge from a variety of sources and change rapidly, resulting in the ongoing need to expend resources to secure our data in accordance with customer expectations and statutory and regulatory requirements. Any compromise of the security of our data could expose us to liability and harm our reputation, which could affect our business and results of operations. We continually enhance our operating procedures and internal controls to effectively support our business and comply with our regulatory and financial reporting requirements, but there can be no assurances that we will be able to implement security measures adequate to prevent every security breach. Although, to date, we have not identified any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents that have, or are likely to, materially affect us, our business strategy, results of operation or financial condition, the scope and effect of any cyber- attack may remain undetected for a period of time. We maintain cyber liability insurance coverage that provides both third- party liability and first- party insurance coverages- coverage; however, our insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses and expenses related to a cyber- attack. Federal and state policymakers have and will likely continue to propose increased regulation of the protection of personally identifiable information and appropriate protocols after a related cybersecurity breach. The New York Department of Financial Services recently adopted a cyber protection and reporting regulation for financial services companies with which we are complying. The NAIC has created the Data Security Model Law based upon the New York regulation. Compliance with these regulations and efforts to address continually developing cybersecurity risks may result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations, liquidity, financial condition, and financial strength. Our reserves for property and casualty insurance..... insurance through different agencies or channels. We are subject to comprehensive laws and regulations, changes to which may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Insurance is a highly regulated industry. We are subject to extensive supervision and regulation by the states in which we operate. As a public company, we are also subject to increased regulation at the federal level, which is susceptible to changes in the new presidential term. Our ability to comply with these laws and regulations and obtain necessary and timely regulatory action is, and will continue to be, critical to our success and ability to earn profits. Examples of regulations that pose particular a risks- risk to our ability to earn profits include but are discussed as follows. not limited to: (1) Required licensing (2) -Our insurance company subsidiaries operate under licenses issued by various state insurance departments. If a regulatory authority were to revoke an existing license or deny or delay granting a new license, our ability to continue to sell insurance or to enter or offer new insurance products in that market would be substantially impaired. Regulation of insurance rates, fees and approval of policy forms (3) -The insurance laws of most states in which we operate require insurance companies to file insurance premium rate schedules and policy forms for review and approval. State regulatory authorities may resist or delay our efforts to raise premium rates at their discretion due to general market, economic, or political factors or factors specific to UFG. If increases to premium rates we deem necessary are not approved, we may not be able to respond to market developments and increased costs in that state. State regulatory authorities may even impose premium rate rollbacks or require us to pay premium refunds to policyholders, affecting our profitability. If insurance policy forms we seek to use are not approved by state insurance departments, our ability to offer new products and grow our business in that state could be substantially impaired. Restrictions on cancellation, nonrenewal or withdrawal (4) -Many states have laws and regulations restricting an insurance company's ability to cease or significantly reduce its sales of certain types of insurance in that state, except pursuant to a plan that is approved by the state insurance departments. These laws and regulations could limit our ability to exit or reduce our business in unprofitable markets or discontinue unprofitable products. Additionally, our ability to adjust terms or increase pricing requires approval of regulatory authorities in certain states. Risk- based capital and capital adequacy requirements (5) -Our insurance company subsidiaries and affiliates are subject to risk- based capital requirements that require us to report our results of risk- based capital calculations to state insurance departments and the NAIC. These standards apply specified risk factors to various asset, premium and reserve components of statutory capital and surplus reported in our statutory basis of accounting financial statements. Any failure to meet applicable risk- based capital requirements or minimum statutory capital requirements could subject us or our subsidiaries and affiliates to further examination or corrective action by state regulators, including limitations on our writing of additional business, state supervision or liquidation. Transactions between insurance companies and their affiliates (6) -Transactions between us, our insurance company subsidiaries and our affiliates generally must be disclosed to, and in some cases approved by, state insurance departments. State insurance departments may

refuse to approve or delay their approval of a transaction, which may impact our ability to innovate or operate efficiently. Required participation in guaranty funds and assigned risk pools - Certain states have enacted laws that require a property (7) **Restrictions on the amount, type, nature, and quality of investments (8) Terrorism** casualty insurer conducting business in that state to participate in assigned risk plans, reinsurance-- **insurance facilities, (9) Accounting standards (10) Corporate governance** and joint underwriting associations where participating insurers are required to provide coverage **public disclosure regulation (11) Information privacy regulation (12) Potential assessments for the provision** assigned risks. The number of risks assigned to us **funds necessary for settlement of covered claims under certain policies provided** by these plans is based on our share of total premiums written in the voluntary insurance market for that state. Pricing is controlled by the plan, often restricting our ability to charge the premium rate we might otherwise charge. Wherever possible, we utilize a designated servicing carrier to fulfill our obligations under these plans. Designated servicing carriers charge us fees to issue policies, adjust and settle claims and handle administrative reporting on our behalf. In these markets, we may be compelled to underwrite significant amounts of business at lower than desired premium rates, possibly leading to an unacceptable return on equity. While these facilities are generally designed so that the ultimate cost is borne by policyholders, the exposure to assessments and our ability to recoup these assessments through adequate premium rate increases may not offset each other in our financial statements. Moreover, even if they do offset each other, they may not offset each other in our financial statements for the same fiscal period, due to the ultimate timing of the assessments and recoupments or premium rate increases. Additionally, certain states require insurers to participate in guaranty funds to bear a portion of the unfunded obligations of impaired or, insolvent or **failed** insurance companies. These state funds periodically assess losses against all insurance companies doing business in the state. Our operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected by any of these factors. Restrictions on the amount, type, nature, quality and concentration of investments. The various states in which we are domiciled have certain restrictions on the amount, type, nature, quality and concentration of our investments. Generally speaking, these regulations require us to be conservative in the nature and quality of our investments and restrict our ability to invest in riskier, but often higher yield investments. These restrictions may make it more difficult for us to obtain our desired investment results. We benefit from certain tax items, including but not limited to, tax-exempt bond interest, dividends received deductions, tax credits (such as foreign tax credits) and insurance reserve deductions. From time to time, the U. S. Congress, as well as foreign, state and local governments, considers legislation that could reduce or eliminate the benefits associated with these tax items. Terrorism Risk Insurance. The Terrorism Risk Insurance Program Reauthorization Act of 2019 ("TRIPRA") was signed into law. TRIPRA, which extended the Terrorism Risk Insurance Program until December 31, 2027, gradually increased the coverage trigger for shared terrorism losses between the federal government and the insurance industry to \$ 200 million per year, and gradually increased the industry-wide retention to \$ 37. 5 billion per year. For further information about TRIPRA and its effect on our operations, refer to the information in the "Results of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021" section in Part II, Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." Accounting standards. We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP, which is periodically revised and /or expanded by recognized authoritative bodies, including the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"). These principles are subject to interpretation by the SEC and various other bodies formed to interpret and create appropriate accounting principles and guidance. Changes in GAAP and financial reporting requirements, or the interpretation of GAAP or those requirements, may have an impact on the content and presentation of our financial results and could have adverse consequences on our financial results, including lower reported results of operations and shareholders' equity and increased volatility and decreased comparability of our reported results with our historic results and with the results of other insurers. In addition, the required adoption of new accounting standards may result in significant incremental costs associated with initial implementation of and ongoing compliance with those standards. Additional information regarding recently proposed and adopted accounting standards and their potential impact on us is set forth in Note 1 "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" to Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." Corporate Governance and Public Disclosure Regulation. Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including Dodd-Frank, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related SEC regulations, as well as the listing standards of the Nasdaq stock market, have created and are continuing to create uncertainty for public companies. The Federal Insurance Office, established within the U. S. Department of the Treasury by Dodd-Frank in 2010, has limited regulatory authority and is empowered to gather data and information regarding the insurance industry and insurers, monitor aspects of the insurance industry, identify issues with regulation of insurers that could contribute to a systemic crisis in the insurance industry or the overall financial system, coordinate federal policy on international insurance matters and preempt state insurance measures under certain circumstances. Dodd-Frank and other federal regulation adopted in the future may impose burdens on us, including impacting the ways we conduct our business, increasing compliance costs and duplicating state regulation. Information Privacy Regulation. We are required to safeguard the personal information of our customers and applicants and are subject to an increasing number of laws and regulations regarding privacy and data security, as well as in our contractual commitments with service providers. We could be subject to governmental enforcement actions and fines, penalties, litigation, or public statements against us by consumer advocacy groups if personal information is not appropriately controlled. Strategic service providers may refuse to continue to do business with us if we do not meet particular standards. Compliance with these laws and regulations requires us to incur administrative costs that decrease our profits. These laws and regulations may also prevent or limit our ability to underwrite and price risks accurately ; obtain timely premium rate increases necessary to cover increased costs ; discontinue unprofitable relationships ; or exit unprofitable markets and otherwise continue to operate our business profitably. In addition, our failure to comply with these laws and regulations could result in actions by state or federal regulators, including the imposition of fines and penalties or, in an extreme case, revocation of our ability to do business in one or more states. Finally, we could face individual, group and class action lawsuits by our policyholders and others for alleged violations of certain state laws and

regulations. Each of these regulatory risks could have a negative effect on our profitability. **Macroeconomic conditions could materially** We will be at a competitive disadvantage if, over time, our competitors are more effective than us in their utilization of technology and **adversely affect** evolving data analytics. We use various actuarial techniques and data analytics to understand our risk exposures **business, results of our operations, financial condition, and growth. Macroeconomic conditions** such as frequency **growth, inflation, market stability,** and severity of different types of insurance claims **geopolitics can impact our operations, opportunities, and risk profile**. The data **Important sectors we rely on follow include goods, services, and housing. Markets exhibit stability when credit is available, there is liquidity in the system, and banks are stable. Geopolitical concerns can also disrupt the business environment. All these factors can contribute to adverse financial consequences** for UFG these analytics includes experience data from our own business (policies written, characteristics, coverages, and details of associated losses) and data attained from third parties, including industry results. **Shareholders** We use outputs of predictive models and..... **Risks Relating to Our Common Stock** Our stock price could become more volatile, and your investment could lose value. The market price of our common stock historically has been, and we expect will continue to be, subject to fluctuations. These fluctuations may be due to our operating results or factors specific to our operations (including those discussed in our **within this Item 1A. risk Risk factors Factors section**), changes in securities analysts' estimates of our future financial performance, ratings or recommendations, our results falling below our expectations and analysts' and investors' expectations, the failure of our capital return programs to meet analysts' and investors' expectations, significant catastrophe events, departure of key personnel, cyber- attacks, or factors largely outside of our control, including those affecting the property and casualty insurance industry. The stock market in general has experienced price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the actual operating performance of listed companies. In addition, our stock is followed by a small number of analysts and the average daily trading volume tends to be low. These factors could adversely affect the price of our common stock. **Efforts** Certain provisions of our organizational documents, as well as applicable insurance laws, could impede an attempt to replace or remove our **disrupt the structure,** management or **ownership** members of our Board of Directors, prevent the sale of the Company or prevent or frustrate any attempt by shareholders to change the direction of the Company, each of which could diminish the value of our common stock. Our articles of incorporation and bylaws, as well as applicable laws governing corporations and insurance companies, contain provisions that could impede an attempt to replace or remove our management or prevent the sale of the Company that, in either case, **could cause** shareholders might not consider being in **to believe that we are acting contrary to** their best interests. **In 2024, we amended and restated** Our Board of Directors is divided into three classes. At any annual meeting of our **bylaws to, among other things, enhance existing procedural mechanics and require additional disclosures in connection with shareholders--shareholder nominations,** our shareholders have the right to appoint approximately one-third of the directors **and submissions** on our Board of Directors. Consequently, it will take at least two annual shareholder meetings **proposals to be included** effect a change in control of our Board of Directors **the Company's proxy statement**. Our articles of incorporation limit the rights of shareholders to call special shareholder meetings. Our articles of incorporation set the minimum number of directors constituting the entire Board of Directors at nine and the maximum at 15, and they require approval of holders of 60.0 percent of all outstanding shares to amend these provisions. Within the range, the Board of Directors may increase by one each year the number of directors serving on the Board of Directors. Our articles of incorporation require the affirmative vote of 60.0 percent of all outstanding shares to approve any plan of merger, consolidation, or sale or exchange of all, or substantially all, of our assets. Our Board of Directors may fill vacancies on the Board of Directors. Our Board of Directors has the authority, without further approval of our shareholders, to issue shares of preferred stock having such rights, preferences and privileges as the Board of Directors may determine. Section 490.1110 of the Iowa Business Corporation Act imposes restrictions on mergers and other business combinations between us and any holder of 10.0 percent or more of our common stock. Section 490.624A of the Iowa Business Corporation Act authorizes the terms and conditions of stock rights or options issued by us to include restrictions or conditions that preclude or limit the exercise, transfer, or receipt of such rights or options by a person, or group of persons, owning or offering to acquire a specified number or percentage of the outstanding common shares or other securities of the corporation. Further, the insurance laws of Iowa, and the states in which our insurance company subsidiaries are domiciled, prohibit any person from acquiring direct or indirect control of us or our insurance company subsidiaries, generally defined as owning or having the power to vote 10.0 percent or more of our outstanding voting stock, without the prior written approval of state regulators. These provisions of our articles of incorporation and bylaws, and these state laws governing corporations and insurance companies, may discourage potential acquisition proposals, **as well as**. These provisions and state laws may also delay, deter or prevent a change of control of the Company, in particular through unsolicited transactions that some or all of our shareholders might consider to be desirable. **However** As a result, **any such activity, regardless of its success,** efforts by our shareholders to change the direction of the Company's management may **still** be unsuccessful, and the existence of such provisions may adversely affect market prices for our common stock if they are viewed as discouraging takeover attempts. The ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends **to UFG** may affect our liquidity and ability to **meet our obligations pay dividends to shareholders**. As a holding company, we have no significant independent operations of our own. Our principal sources of funds are dividends and other payments received from our subsidiaries. We rely on those **subsidiaries'** dividends for our liquidity, **payment of** and to meet our obligations to pay dividends to shareholders and **to** make share repurchases. Dividends from those subsidiaries depend on their statutory surplus, earnings and regulatory restrictions. State insurance laws limit the ability of insurance subsidiaries to pay dividends and require our insurance subsidiaries to maintain specified minimum levels of statutory capital and surplus. The actual ability to pay dividends may be further constrained by business and regulatory considerations, such as the impact of dividends on surplus, by our competitive position and by the amount of premiums that we can write. Ordinary dividend payments, or dividends that do not require prior approval by the insurance subsidiaries' domiciliary state insurance regulator are generally limited to amounts determined by a formula which varies by jurisdiction. Extraordinary

dividends, on the other hand, require prior regulatory approval by the insurance subsidiaries' domiciliary state insurance regulator before they can be made. In addition, competitive pressures generally require insurance companies to maintain insurance financial strength ratings. These restrictions and other regulatory requirements affect the ability of our insurance subsidiaries to make dividend payments to us. At times ~~we~~ **the Company** may ~~not be able~~ **unable** to pay dividends on our common stock, or we may be required to seek prior approval from the applicable regulatory authority before ~~we~~ **our insurance subsidiaries** can ~~make a~~ **pay any such dividends** ~~by us~~ **to shareholders** ~~dividend payment to the Company for distribution~~. In addition, the payment of dividends ~~by us~~ **to shareholders** is within the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on numerous factors, including our financial condition, our capital requirements and other factors that our Board of Directors considers relevant. ~~General Risk Factor~~ **Macroeconomic conditions could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, and growth. Macroeconomic conditions such as growth, inflation, market stability, and geopolitics can impact our operations, opportunities, and risk profile. Important sectors we follow include goods, services, and housing. Markets exhibit stability when credit is available, there is liquidity in the system, and banks are stable. Geopolitical concerns can also disrupt the business environment. All of these factors can contribute to adverse financial consequences for UFG. These risks are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial could also have a material effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and/or liquidity.**